IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL MCNAIR

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Nov 16 2020 07:23 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

Docket No. 78871

Direct Appeal From A Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Douglas Herndon, District Judge District Court No. C-17-327395-1

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Navid Afshar State Bar #14465 Deputy Special Public Defender JoNell Thomas State Bar #4771 Special Public Defender 330 South 3rd Street Las Vegas, NV 89155 (702) 455-6265 Attorney for McNair

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction, pursuant to a jury verdict, of one count each of first-degree murder with use of a deadly weapon and concealment of a firearm. 10 App. 1964. The judgment of conviction was filed on May 3, 2019. *Id*. A timely notice of appeal was filed on May 22, 2019. 10 App. 1966. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRS 177.015.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict for first degree murder and a sentence of 25 years to life. The issues in this appeal are of a constitutional dimension and present an important issue regarding improper comments made by the State related to the credibility of witnesses, in addition to other issues concerning a biased jury, and failure to properly instruct the jury. This case should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court. NRAP 17(a)(11). This appeal is not within any of the case categories presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. NRAP 17(b).

///

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether the State Violated *Batson v. Kentucky* and the District Court Committed Structural Error.
- B. Whether The District Court Erred by Not Striking the Venire Panel After Michael Made Specific Allegations That Established Systematic Non-Compliance With NRS 6.045.
- C. Whether There is Insufficient Evidence to Support the Murder Conviction.
- D. Whether Michael Was Prejudiced by The State's Comments During Closing Argument Referencing Defense Counsel and Making an Improper Analogy to Explain Premeditation.
- E. Whether the District Court Abused its Discretion by Allowing an Investigator Employed by the Clark County District Attorney's Office to Testify and Attack the Credibility and Character of Witnesses.
- F. Whether the District Court Abused its Discretion by Failing to Grant the Requested Voluntary Manslaughter Instruction.
- G. Whether Cumulative Error Warrants a New Trial.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 24, 2017, the State charged Appellant Michael McNair

by way of information with one count each of Murder with Use of a Deadly

Weapon, and Carrying Concealed Firearm or Other Deadly Weapon. 1

App. 159.

Trial began on February 26, 2019. 3 App. 383. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts on March 7, 2019. 9 App. 1910.

Prior to trial, there were juror issues related to violations of *Batson* v. *Kentucky* and a venire that did not comprise a fair-cross section due to systematic exclusion. 3 App. 395; 5 App. 892. During trial, Michael requested an instruction on voluntary manslaughter, which the court denied. 8 App. 1634-35. Michael objected when an investigator for the State testified about a witness who was unavailable at trial but had their prior testimony read into the record. 1 App. 93; 8 App. 1532. During closing argument, the State made comments about Michael's counsel, which were the basis of a motion for mistrial. 9 App. 1807. The State also made an analogy comparing the mens rea element of premeditation for first degree murder to a traffic violation. 9 App. 1800-01. These issues are discussed in more detail in the relevant section below.

On May 1, 2019, the district court sentenced Michael on Count One to twenty years to life, with a consecutive term of five to twenty years for use of a deadly weapon; and on Count Two, two to five years, to run concurrently with Count One. 10 App. 1962. The total aggregate sentence was twenty five years to life. *Id*.

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 24, 2017, around 9:15 p.m., Michael was working his regular shift at Unified Containers, located at 1300 North Las Vegas Boulevard and Searles Ave. 5 App. 1055. Because of the events that occurred within the next 15 minutes, the State would allege that Michael shot and killed Gordon Phillips with the use of a deadly weapon. 1 App. 159.

At the intersection of Las Vegas Boulevard and Searles Ave., there are companies located next to Unified Containers: Flavors, Anderson Dairy, and Crystal Peaks. 5 App. 1044, 1049; 6 App. 1135. These companies are under the same ownership and directly adjacent to each other, allowing employees of one can company to access the others. 6 App. 1135. Michael originally started out as a bagger for Unified Containers, but it would not be unusual for him to travel through or work in areas where the other companies were located, in particular, Crystal Peaks. 6 App. 1142, 1170. Michael's supervisors noticed that he learned quickly and was a hard worker. 5 App. 1079; 6 App. 1142-43. They started training him in different areas so that he could serve in a supervisory role during the night shift. *Id.* He worked in an area with a great deal of homeless traffic, with anywhere from 40 to 50 homeless individuals in the area. 5 5 App. 1096. It was not uncommon for the homeless in the area to carry knives to protect themselves. On the night of the shooting, Michael took his break in his company's parking lot. 6 App. 1154-56.

Argument with Gordon:

While Michael was on his break, Gordon, one of the homeless people congregating in the area, approached him, yelling at him through a fence to turn down the music from his truck. 5 App. 1013. Soon, witnesses could hear yelling and arguing, with Gordon threatening to jump over the fence that separated him from Michael. 5 App. 1015-16, 1098. During this confrontation, Gordon was seen clasping a knife behind his back. 5 App. 1016.

Michael approached Ramiro Romero, who recently started working at Unified Containers, and asked him to come assist with someone in front of the parking lot. 6 App. 1320. There was conflicting testimony as to what occurred next. Ramiro testified that while he and Michael were outside in the general dock area, Michael pointed towards the gate entrance with a phone. 6 App. 1322.¹ Alternatively, Detective Hoffman, who narrated surveillance video for the Sate, testified that Michael had a firearm and pointed it in Gordon's general direction. 8 App. 1561. While Ramiro and Michael were in the company's parking lot area, Gordon and another person yelled at them through the fence. 6 App. 1321. Michael asked that they stop yelling because he wanted to be left alone and go back to work. 6 App. 1320-22. Despite his request, Gordon and another person continued their yelling. 6 App. 1323. Michael went to his truck, and then opened the gate for Dennis Simpson, a security guard for Unified Containers, who arrived in a white truck. 6 App. 1324, 1326. Gordon and the other individual with him walked away. 6 App. 1328; 8 App. 1564. Michael and Ramiro walked towards Gordon but stayed on their side of the street, walking up to the corner of Las Vegas Boulevard and Searles Ave. 1 App. 99; 6 App. 1331. Ramiro, Michael, and Dennis returned to work. 6 App. 1327. Ramiro testified that after the initial confrontation with Gordon, Michael tried to sell him a gun. 6 App. 1335. Ramiro asked Michael just a few days prior if he had a gun he could sell

¹ On direct examination he confirmed that at a prior hearing he testified it was a gun, not a phone. 6 App. 1323.

him. *Id.* Ramiro testified that he was so agitated as a result of the confrontation with Gordon that he was still angry several minutes later, so much so that he punched boxes in the warehouse. 6 App. 1333.

Shooting:

Ramiro went back to work and did not witness the shooting. 6 App. 1333, 1342. However, multiple other witnesses were present for the shooting, providing contradictory accounts about what happened, with one witness in close proximity to the shooting testifying that Mitchell Johnson, Michael's half-brother, was actually the shooter. 1 App. 102-03.

Mitchell was the main witness for the State regarding his proximity to the confrontation that led to the shooting. 7 App. 1409. Prior to the night of the shooting, he also worked at Unified Containers for about a year and half. 7 App. 1398. Unlike Michael, he did not excel at the job, and was terminated for tardiness and absenteeism. 6 App. 1141. On the night of the shooting, Mitchell, along with his girlfriend Bianca Redden, drove over to Michael's worksite because he needed \$10 to buy marijuana. 7 App. 1309, 1400, 1432.² Mitchell and Bianca arrived at Michael's job in

² Mitchell liked smoking marijuana, so much so that he admitted to having ingested marijuana on the day of and just prior to testifying at trial. 7 App. 1431.

a white GMC suburban with a large dent in the front door. 5 App. 986; 8 App. 1566. Mitchell drove his vehicle in through the gate of Unified Containers and got out to meet Michael. 7 App. 1403. He claimed that Michael asked him to cross the street with him from the corner of Searles Ave., where Unified Containers was located, to the other side of the street, near the intersection of Las Vegas Boulevard. 7 App. 1403, 1405, 1424. Mitchell's version indicated that he was leading the way until he and Michael came across Gordon, who stood up to approach them. 6 App. 1407. He testified that he encountered Gordon, who told him to "just leave it alone" but instead Mitchell punched Gordon in the neck for being "too close." *Id.*, 7 App. 1406, 1440. Mitchell could not remember key details about Gordon, including his height and weight. 7 App. 1441.

Mitchell's claim that Gordon approached him was contradicted by Joshua Brennan, a security guard working for Palm Mortuary, who claimed that Gordon never got up from the ground and was attacked while he was laying down. 6 App. 1100. Mitchell claimed that Michael was behind him when he punched Gordon and that he suddenly heard gunshots, but did not check on Gordon or Michael, opting instead to walk back to his truck and leave with Bianca. 7 App. 1447. Mitchell's testimony was not just contradicted by other witnesses but by his own prior statements. 7 App. 1438. He previously told investigators that he never went to Unified Containers that night; only when confronted with video surveillance did he finally admit to being there. 7 App. 1421-22. He also denied walking across the street from Searles Ave., on the Unified Containers side of the street, to the side Gordon was on, and denied that he punched Gordon. 7 App. 1422. Mitchell admitted on cross-examination that he had a prior conviction for larceny, the State had not charged him for that offense, and he had an attorney present during his testimony. *Id*.

Other witnesses not only contradicted Mitchell, but each other. This included Anthony Razo, who was homeless at the time and lived in the same area as Gordon. 5 App. 1010. He told police that he saw Michael with a gun, but then retracted this statement, testifying that he did not see him with anything. 5 App. 1023. He also initially told police that there was a 15 minute delay from when he saw Michael for the last time until he heard gunshots. 5 App. 1024. However, on direct examination, he claimed that it was actually a difference of about 30 to 45 minutes. 5 App. 1024. He admitted on cross-examination that he had a prior felony for battery by a prisoner. 5 App. 1039.

Mitchell's girlfriend Bianca testified. She confirmed that she initially lied to police when she said that nothing happened or could happen, instead claiming that Mitchell received his ten dollars and left. 7 App. 1307-09.

Joshua, the security guard for Palm Mortuary, heard an argument or a scuffle. 5 App. 1092, 1098. He saw someone who matched Michael's description wearing a blue shirt, and someone matching Mitchell's description, approach Gordon. 6 App. 1099-1100. Moments later he heard gunshots. 6 App. 1100-01. He claimed that prior to the gunshots, Michael grabbed Gordon, while Mitchell hit him in the side. 6 App. 1100-02. After the gunshots, he saw a white SUV with a dent in it pull out. 6 App. 1109. Joshua acknowledged that the State had shown him a video clip of a portion of the incident prior to his testimony and that he was never asked to identify anyone in a photographic line up. 6 App. 1112-13. He confirmed on cross-examination that he never saw the shooting as his view was obstructed by trees. 6 App. 1110, 1114-16.

Another witness, who was homeless at the time of the shooting, Deanna Lopez, was in the area and was friends with Gordon. 7 App. 1253, 1280. The prosecution argued that her version of events matched Mitchell's. 9 App. 1786. On the night of the shooting, she and her boyfriend Tom, along with another homeless man, Anthony, were laying on the ground about 24 feet from Gordon. 7 App. 1256. Deanna required prescription glasses and had difficulty seeing things from far away. 7 App. 1283. In fact, she was night blind and was not wearing her glasses that night. 7 App. 1283, 1260, 1286. A short suitcase also impeded her vision. 7 App 1287. However, after reading her statement which she gave to the police, Deanna confirmed that it was actually a stroller, not a short suitcase. 7 App. 1288. Despite her impaired vision, she testified that she saw Gordon cross the street towards Searles Ave., and argue with someone in front of the Unified Containers side of the street. Id. The two men that Gordon argued with came back to his side of the street about five minutes later. 7 App. 1257. Michael was not wearing a blue shirt and stayed on the curb, while Mitchell approached Gordon. 7 App. 1258-59. According to her, Gordon stood up, Mitchell punched him twice, and then Michael shot Gordon about 5-6 times from the curb, not the sidewalk. 7

App. 1259. She went over and put a sheet on Gordon's wounds to stop the bleeding and her friend Anthony called 911. 7 App. 1260. She was the main witness, apart from Mitchell, to see Gordon stand up. 7 App. 1258. Furthermore, she described Michael as being 5'6-5'8, although he is 6'0-6'1, and described Mitchell as being 5'3-5'5, even though he is 5'7. 5 App. 1051; 6 App. 1099, 1100, 1114; 7 App. 1276.

Kenneth Saldana, another homeless man well acquainted with Gordon, and the closest witness to the shooting, testified at the preliminary hearing but was unavailable to testify at trial. 1 App. 93; 8 App. 1530. His testimony was read into the record during trial. 9 App. 1763. On the night of the shooting, Kenneth was homeless, lived in front of Flavors, and knew Gordon. 1 App. 94. He was about 15 to 20 feet away from Gordon when the argument first occurred and was even closer when the shooting took place. 1 App. 100, 105. His testimony contradicted Mitchell's. Specifically, he testified that Mitchell hit Gordon 5 to 10 times, and that Mitchell, not Michael, shot Gordon.³ 1 App. 103.

³ Kenneth did not identify Mitchell by name but identified the shorter of the two males as doing the shooting. 1 App. 103. Furthermore, his testimony describing the other actions of the individual he identified as the shooter matched other witness testimony regarding Mitchell. *See e.g.* 6 App. 1100-02; 7 App. 1259.

Lyle Galeener, Michael's supervisor and an engineer for Unified Containers and Crystal Peaks, came in the morning after the shooting. 5 App. 1073. While walking through a loft area used for storage, he climbed a ladder and found a backpack with a gun in it. 5 App. 1075, 1080. He noted that the area in which he found the backpack with the gun inside was not locked and any employee could access that area. 5 App. 1085.

<u>Investigation</u>:

Detective Hoffman questioned Michael, Mitchell, and Bianca. 9 App. 1732. He did not obtain a warrant for Mitchell's vehicle and noted that Michael wore a blue shirt when he first saw him, with his name on it. *Id.*, 9 App. 1737.

During trial, Detective Hoffman narrated surveillance video that showed some of the events that occurred that night. 8 App. 1561. While narrating the surveillance video, he testified that Michael came back into the warehouse and walked into the engineering and break rooms, where he changed his blue shirt for a red shirt and then put on a blue shirt again. 8 App. 1569-71.

Clark County Medical Examiner, Dr. Gavin – not the medical examiner who performed the autopsy – testified that the Gordon died

from gunshot wounds and that the manner of death was homicide. 8 App. 1466, 1485, 1487. On cross-examination, she confirmed that she could not testify as to what Gordon was doing at the time he was shot or whether the person who shot him was moving backwards or towards him at the time the shots were fired. 8 App. 1492-93. In response to juror questions, she confirmed she could not determine whether the firearm was pointed downward or from a mid-level angle. 8 App. 1496.

LMVPD DNA analyst, Tiffany Adams, examined DNA collected from Michael, Ramiro, Mitchell, and Gordon. 8 App. 1502, 1515. Michael's DNA was found on the gun along with that of another unknown male contributor. 8 App. 1516, 1524. She could not exclude the others from the gun. 8 App. 1517. She was also unable to identify any fingerprints on the magazine clip. 8 App. 1518. LMVPD crime scene analyst, Jamelle Shannon, took DNA swabs from Michael and Ramiro but could not recall if she took one from Mitchell. 6 App. 1219, 1247.

After watching the surveillance video and speaking with Michael, Detective Hoffman arrested him. 8 App. 1583.

///

VI. <u>SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT</u>

Michael's constitutional rights were violated when the State gave purportedly race-neutral reasons for striking three jurors and the district court precluded Michael from traversing the State's reasons. The State's reasons were not race-neutral because jurors who gave similar answers were not excluded and the remaining reasons the State gave were insufficient to establish anything other than *Batson* violations. Michael was unable to have a jury drawn from a fair cross section of the community as he showed that there was well over fifty percent comparative disparity and underrepresentation. He established that this underrepresentation was due to systematic exclusion based on noncompliance with statutory requirements by the government entities. He was denied Due Process as the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt each and every element of first degree murder because the State was not able to establish all three elements of premeditation, willfulness, and deliberation. His right to counsel was hindered by the State's negative or derogatory comments regarding his attorney's legitimate defense tactics. He was denied Due Process as the State was allowed to explain to the jury that the mes rea for premeditation was akin to

running a red traffic light. He was denied Due Process and a right to a Fair Trial because of the district court's refusal to grant a voluntary manslaughter instruction, despite sufficient evidence to do so. His right to have only relevant and admissible evidence presented against him was violated because an investigator for the State improperly attacked the credibility of a key witnesses, Kenneth, who testified that Mitchell was the shooter. While any of these issues warrants a reversal of his conviction, the cumulative error also necessitates a new trial.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. The State Violated *Batson v. Kentucky* and the District Court Committed Structural Error.

Michael's conviction and sentence must be reversed because his state and federal constitutional rights to Due Process, Equal Protection, a Fair Trial, a Fair and Impartial jury, and Right to a Jury of his Peers, were repeatedly violated during jury selection. The State violated *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 82 (1986), and the district court committed structural error in its handling of the *Batson* challenge. U.S. Const. Amend. V, VI, VIII, XIV; Nevada Const. Art. I, Sec. 3, 6 and 8; Art. IV, Sec. 21, 27; NRS 6.010 and NRS 175.031.

This Court reviews a trial court's rulings on discriminatory intent for an abuse of discretion. Diomampo v. State, 124 Nev. 414, 423, 185 P.3d 1031, 1037 (2008). "Because the district court is in the best position" to rule on a *Batson* challenge, its determination is reviewed deferentially, for clear error." Williams v. State, 134 Nev. 687, 690, 429 P.3d 301, 306 (2018). If an abuse occurred, it is structural error; which means prejudice is presumed and reversal is necessary. Williams v. Woodford, 396 F.3d 1059, 1069 (9th Cir. 2005); Diomampo, 124 Nev. at 423, 185 P.3d at 1037. Batson provides a three-step process for adjudicating a claim that a peremptory challenge was based on race: First, a defendant must make a prima facie showing that a peremptory challenge has been exercised on the basis of based on race; second, if that showing has been made, the prosecution must offer a race-neutral basis for striking the juror in question; and third, in light of the parties' submissions, the trial court determine whether the defendant has shown purposeful must discrimination. Snyder v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472, 476-77 (2008); *Diomampo*, 124 Nev. at 422, 185 P.3d at 1036.

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