IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL MCNAIR,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jan 14 2021 08:18 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 78871

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

NAVID AFSHAR Nevada Bar #014465 Deputy Special Public Defender JONELL THOMAS Nevada Bar #004771 Special Public Defender 330 South 3rd Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-6265

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

A. The State Did Not Disparage the Defense.

Appellant first mentions the State's analogy to explain conspiracy. AOB 38-39; IXAA1792-94. At trial, defense counsel objected under the grounds that it disparaged the defense, and that the State was interjecting the parties into the case. IXAA1793-94. The district court stated that it did not think the State intended to disparage counsel, but it would admonish the jury. IXAA1794. The State confirmed that their intent was not to disparage. Id. During defense counsel's Motion for a Mistrial, the State again explained that it did not intend to disparage counsel and that it was just a "spur of the moment example[.]" IXAA1809. The district court then denied the Motion for Mistrial and asked for input from defense counsel on what the admonishment would say. IXAA1810. The district court subsequently admonished the jury. IXAA1811.

The State's comments were not improper because the State was not disparaging defense counsel. The prosecutor did not even say that defense counsel was objecting too much, but merely described a hypothetical scenario in order to explain conspiracy to commit murder. In fact, the State only said, "[i]f I decide that I'm upset at the Defense attorneys objecting during my closing argument" which does not automatically result in a conclusion that the State was claiming that there were too many objections. See IXAA1792-93. Unlike Butler, where the prosecution "used many adjectives and analogies" to imply that "Butler's counsel acted unethically in his defense[,]" the prosecution in this case was not asserting that defense counsel was acting unethically or commenting on legitimate defense tactics. Cf. Butler v. State, 120 Nev. 879, 898 (2004). There was no implication that defense counsel was "objecting too much". 12 Nor was the State attempting to attack defense counsel's advocacy.

To the extent that any of the State's arguments in closing were improper, any error was harmless. If the error is of constitutional dimension, then the Court applies the Chapman v. California, standard, which requires the State to demonstrate, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error did not contribute to the verdict. Valdez at 1189. If the error is not of constitutional dimension, this Court will reverse only if

¹² Appellant claims that the objections raised prior to the State's analogy were not improper, but does admit that only some of the objections were sustained by the district court. AOB 40.

that this is a constitutional violation, which it is not, under either standard, any error was harmless. First, the district court gave a lengthy admonishment to the jury. IXAA1811. Moreover, as the court sustained the objection, Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice as a result of this testimony. See Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1193-94 (2008) (No prejudice resulting from prosecutorial misconduct where objection sustained), Allred v. State, 120 Nev. 410, 415 (2004) (The Nevada Supreme Court presumes the jury follows the district court's orders and instructions).

Further, it is highly unlikely that these remarks substantially affected the verdict, given the substantial evidence introduced at trial to prove Appellant's guilt. The events leading up to Gordon's murder establish Appellant's motive and opportunity for killing him. Gordon first approached Appellant to ask him to turn his music down so he could sleep, which led to a confrontation. VAA1013,1015-16;VIIIAA1582. After this confrontation, Appellant sought Romero's help to fight Gordon. VAA1013, 1015-16; VIIAA1320. Appellant was seen pointing a firearm in Gordon's direction. VIIIAA1561. Later, Appellant and Mitchell walked over to where Gordon was resting when Appellant shot Gordon eight times. VAA982-83, 1024; VIAA1101-02, 1109; VIIAA1407, 1419; VIIIAA1470. Appellant's contentions focus on credibility, but it is the jury's function to determine the credibility of witnesses. Origel-Candido, 114 Nev. 378, 381.

Finally, Appellant claims that the district court abused its discretion in denying the mistrial. AOB 42. A "denial of a motion for a mistrial is within the trial court's sound discretion. The court's determination will not be disturbed on appeal in the absence of a clear showing of abuse." Parker v. State, 109 Nev. 383, 388-89 (1993). Appellant citation to the record neglects the additional findings that although it was a "bad analogy", the court felt as though an admonishment was sufficient compared to granting a mistrial. IXAA1809-10. When the actual objection was made, the district court stated that the court did not believe the intent was to disparage counsel, which said remark was made before the jury. IXAA1794. For these reasons, the district court did not err in denying the Motion for Mistrial, and the State did not commit prosecutorial misconduct; if this Court was to find that there was misconduct, any error was harmless.

B. The State's Analogy in Reference to a Traffic Light was to Explain Premeditation and Deliberation.

As an initial matter, Appellant's actual objection to the State's analogy was, "You don't get a red -- ticket for going through a yellow light. This is a facetious argument because it would... be a red light." See AOB 43; IXAA1800. Now on appeal, Appellant asserts that the analogy was improper because that State did not properly explain premeditation. <u>Id.</u> According this Court should decline to consider the argument on appeal. Guy v. State, 108 Nev. at 779–80 (1992).

Regardless, the State's comment was not improper, because the State was explaining the concepts of premeditation and deliberation and the fact that said concepts are not about the time, but whether a suspect formed the intent. Said analogy is supported by Nevada case law. See Payne v. State, 81 Nev. 503, 508–09 ("one may be guilty of murder in the first degree although the intent to commit such a homicide is formed 'at the very moment the fatal shot [is] fired."). As this Court stated in Byford, "[a] deliberate determination may be arrived at in a short period of time." 116 Nev. 215, 236 (2000).

Furthermore, Appellant's reliance on McCullough is misplaced as that case handled a different concept, the reasonable doubt standard, and the conduct was by the trial court. See McCullough v. State, 99 Nev. 72, 73 (1983). The case law surrounding the reasonable doubt standard is clear that no other definition can be given. See NRS 175.211. For these reasons, the State's analogy was not improper.

If there was any error, it was harmless based upon the overwhelming evidence as stated *supra*. The State emphasizes the fact that there was overwhelming evidence to support the argument that Appellant had the intent to kill after engaging in a confrontation with Gordon and later shooting him eight times. VAA982-83,1013,1015-16,1024;VIAA1101-02,1109;VIIAA1320,1407,1419;VIIIAA1470. Moreover, the jury was instructed as to the relevant definitions of premeditation and

deliberation. IXAA1882. For these reasons, the State did not commit prosecutorial misconduct, and if there was any error, the error was harmless.

V. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY ALLOWING THE STATE'S INVESTIGATOR TO TESTIFY

Appellant claims the district court abused its discretion by allowing the State's investigator to testify and "attack the credibility and character of witnesses." AOB 49. Appellant's claim is that the State's Investigator's testimony was provided to "discredit Kenneth and Ramiro, while bolstering the credibility of Mitchell." AOB 52.

This Court reviews a district court's decision to admit or exclude evidence for an abuse of discretion. Hernandez v. State, 124 Nev. 639 (2008) (abrogated on other grounds by State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court in & for County of Clark (Baker), 134 Nev. 104 (2018); see, e.g., Mclellan v. State, 124 Nev. 263, 267 (2008). The determination of whether to admit evidence is within the sound discretion of the district court, and that determination will not be disturbed unless manifestly wrong. Petrocelli v. State, 101 Nev. 46, 52 (1985).

According to <u>Lobato v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 512, 518 (2004) (internal citation omitted) there are nine modes of impeachment:

The first four involve attacks upon the competence of a witness to testify, i.e., attacks based upon defects of perception, memory, communication and ability to understand the oath to testify truthfully. The second four modes of impeachment involve the use of evidence of prior convictions, prior inconsistent statements, specific incidents of

conduct and ulterior motives for testifying. The ninth mode of impeachment, not pertinent to this appeal, permits attack upon a witness's reputation for truthfulness and necessarily involves the use of extrinsic evidence.

"Impeachment by use of extrinsic evidence is prohibited when collateral to the proceedings. Collateral facts are by nature 'outside the controversy, or are not directly connected with the principal matter or issue in dispute." <u>Id.</u> (internal citation omitted). However, this rule is limited only to issue involving specific instances of conduct. <u>Id.</u>

For example, extrinsic evidence that is relevant to any of the first four modes of impeachment is never collateral and thus is always admissible for impeachment purposes...And extrinsic evidence relevant to prove a witness's motive to testify in a certain way, i.e., bias, interest, corruption or prejudice, is never collateral to the controversy and not subject to the limitations contained in NRS 50.085(3).

<u>Id.</u> at 518–19. "NRS 50.085(3) limits the admissibility of extrinsic evidence for the purpose of attacking credibility based upon specific instances of conduct attributable to the witness. Unless in some way related to the case and admissible on other grounds, extrinsic prior bad act evidence is always collateral and therefore inadmissible to attack credibility." Id. at 519.

A. Testimony Regarding Kenneth and Romero was Proper.

First, Appellant claims that Investigator Honaker's testimony was unnecessary since Kenneth's testimony had been read into the record. AOB 52.

Appellant further complains that the investigator did not impeach Kenneth's actual

Appellant's assertions, Investigator Honaker testified before Kenneth's testimony was read into the record by defense counsel. IXAA1761-62; AOB 52. Accordingly, the testimony informed the jury why Kenneth would not be present for trial.

Regardless, the State offered permissible impeachment testimony. Investigator Honaker testified that it was not easy to have Kenneth appear for the preliminary hearing as he was "minimally cooperative," resistant, and "not easy to deal with." VIIIAA1529-30. During multiple contacts, Kenneth was inebriated and angry; after Kenneth testified for that hearing, Investigator Honaker was unable to procure him for the trial. VIIIAA1530. This testimony was permissible impeachment testimony as introduced to attack Kenneth's perception and memory of the events. Deanna even testified that she had observed Kenneth become drunk and rowdy on a consistent basis. VIIAA1262-63. Therefore, the testimony was proper.

As to Romero, Appellant claims that the testimony about that witness was not relevant. AOB 53. Investigator Honaker testified that Romero was "rude, non-cooperative, minimally cooperative," and not easy to deal with. VIIIAA1530-31. As Appellant acknowledges, Romero had prior inconsistent statements, and Appellant went so far to describe Romero as agitated while on the stand. AOB 55. Even during the cross-examination of Honaker, defense counsel noted that Romero was not cooperative with his investigators. VIIIAA1548. Accordingly, this testimony was

proper. Moreover, the testimony impeached Romero's perception and memory of the events. Therefore, the testimony was permissible.

Finally, even if there was any error in allowing the investigator to testify, the plain error standard would apply. See Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190 (2008) ("[w]hen an error has not been preserved, this court employs plain-error review."); Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545 (2003). "[A]n error that is plain from a review of the record does not require reversal unless the defendant demonstrates that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing "actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." Valdez, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190.

Here, Appellant cannot show that any error affected his substantial rights. The State was permitted to attack the credibility of witnesses, just as defense counsel attempted to do so at trial. Moreover, Appellant admits that Romero was a problematic witness. Furthermore, as Kenneth's testimony was read into the record, there was testimony that he was not inebriated on the night of the murder. IAA121. Defense counsel even argued during closing arguments that Mitchell was the one who shot Gordon, and highlighted Kenneth's prior testimony that he was not intoxicated on the night of the murder. IXAA1818. Appellant's additional argument that the State was grouping Kenneth and Romero is illogical. The State was pointing out the potential for error in Kenneth's perception of events due to possible

inebriation. Finally, it is the jury's function to determine the credibility of witnesses.

Origel-Candido, 114 Nev. 378, 381.

B. Testimony Regarding Mitchell was Proper.

Appellant claims that Investigator Honaker's testimony regarding Mitchell was not properly noticed to defense counsel, was inadmissible hearsay, and not proper impeachment evidence. AOB 55.

First, Appellant's reliance on NRS 174.235 is misplaced, as that statute did not bar the testimony about Mitchell. As Appellant admits, there was no written or recorded statement; accordingly, the "spirit" of NRS 174.235 was not violated. See AOB 57. Moreover, Appellant citation to the unpublished Kenderick case is misplaced and inapplicable as the issue involved a jail house call, which is clearly a recorded statement. See Id.

Second, Appellant claims that there was improper hearsay when Investigator Honaker testified that during the pretrial conference a question posed to Mitchell was did he turn around after the gunshots. VIIIAA1534-35. Investigator Honaker responded that he remembered that question, and the response from Michell was that he saw Gordon fall and his brother had a gun in his hand. VIIIAA1535. Prior to this testimony, Mitchell had testified that when he turned around, he did not see Gordon fall to the ground. Accordingly, the testimony by Investigator Honaker was permissible as there was an inconsistent statement. Although the impeachment

Investigator Honaker testify regarding this issue. Moreover, Appellant's citation to the record involves the statement provided to the Detective, that the State was attempting to use, which is not the issue Appellant raised. VIIAA1411-12.

To the extent that this Court finds that there was error, then plain error review would apply. Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1190; Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545. Alternatively, to the extent that this Court finds that harmless error review applied, then Appellant is entitled to reversal only if the error substantially affected the jury's verdict. Valdez at 1189. Here, as stated *supra*, there was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. VAA976,978-79, 982-83,1014,1017,1056,1073-74,1080; VIIAA1259-60,1301; VIIIAA1470,1515-17,1558, 1560 61,1569,1582,1590. Moreover, the jury heard Mitchell's testimony that he did not see the victim fall to the ground and he did not see his brother with a firearm in his hand. VIIAA1408. For these reasons, there was no plain error; alternatively, any error was harmless.

VI. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR BY NOT PROVIDING A JURY INSTRUCTION ON VOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER

Appellant claims the district court erred by not instructing the jury on voluntary manslaughter. AOB 59. District courts have "broad discretion" to settle jury instructions. Cortinas v. State, 124 Nev. 1013, 1019 (2008). An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason. Jackson v. State, 117 Nev. 116, 120 (2001).

The failure to instruct the jury on a defendant's theory of the case that is supported by the evidence warrants reversal unless the error was harmless. See Cortinas, 124 Nev. 1013, 1023-25 (discussing when instructional error may be reviewed for harmlessness). Instructional errors are harmless when it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error," and the error is not the type that would undermine certainty in the verdict. Wegner v. State, 116 Nev. 1149, 1155–56 (2000); See also NRS 178.598.

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